
 A meeting of the LICENSING COMMITTEE will be held in the 
CORPORATE TRAINING SUITE, EASTFIELD HOUSE, HUNTINGDON 
on WEDNESDAY, 27 JANUARY 2010 ON THE RISING OF THE 
LICENSING AND PROTECTION PANEL and you are requested to 
attend for the transaction of the following business:- 

 
 
  
 APOLOGIES   

 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 27th October 2009. 
 
 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 
 To receive from Members declarations as to personal and/or 

prejudicial interests and the nature of those interests in relation to any 
Agenda Item.  Please see notes 1 and 2 below. 
 
 

3. SECRET GARDEN PARTY  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
 To receive a report by the Head of Democratic and Central Services. 

 
4. LICENSING COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT POLICY  (Pages 

9 - 24) 
 
 To receive a report by the Head of Democratic and Central Services 

on the updated Licensing Compliance and Enforcement Policy. 
 
 

 
 Dated this 19 day of January 2010 
 

  Chief Executive 
  

  
Notes 
 
1.  A personal interest exists where a decision on a matter would affect to a 

greater extent than other people in the District – 
 

(a) the well-being, financial position, employment or business of the 
Councillor, their family or any person with whom they had a close 



 
association; 

 
 (b) a body employing those persons, any firm in which they are a partner 

and any company of which they are directors; 
 
 (c) any corporate body in which those persons have a beneficial interest 

in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 
 
 (d) the Councillor’s registerable financial and other interests. 
 
2. A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest where a member of the 

public (who has knowledge of the circumstances) would reasonably regard 
the Member’s personal interest as being so significant that it is likely to 
prejudice the Councillor’s judgement of the public interest. 

 
 
Please contact Mrs A Jerrom,  Democratic Services , Tel No 01480 388009/e-
mail:Amanda.Jerrom@huntsdc.gov.uk  if you have a general query on any 
Agenda Item, wish to tender your apologies for absence from the meeting, or 
would like information on any decision taken by the Committee. 

 
 

Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website – 
www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk (under Councils and Democracy). 

 
 

If you would like a translation of 
Agenda/Minutes/Reports or would like a  
large text version or an audio version  

please contact the Democratic Services Manager and 
we will try to accommodate your needs. 

 
 

Emergency Procedure 
In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the Meeting 
Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via the closest 
emergency exit. 

 
 



HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the LICENSING COMMITTEE held at 

Saxongate, on Tuesday, 27 October 2009. 
   
 PRESENT: Councillor J M Sadler – Chairman. 
   
  Councillors K M Baker, J T Bell, 

P L E Bucknell, R S Farrer, A Hansard, 
D J Priestman, P D Reeve, J M Sadler and 
R G Tuplin. 

   
 APOLOGIES: Apologies for absence from the meeting were 

submitted on behalf of Councillors J J Dutton 
and R W J Eaton. 

   
   . 
 
 
10. MINUTES   

 
 The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 16th September 

2009 were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

11. MEMBERS’ INTERESTS 
 

 No declarations were received. 
 

12. EUROPEAN SERVICES DIRECTORATE   
 

 With the aid of a report by the Head of Democratic and Central 
Services (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book), Members’ 
attention was drawn to the implications of an EU Services Directive 
which required that a system be introduced to allow service providers 
located in the EU to apply for, vary and pay for licences and permits 
on line, by 28th December 2009.  Members were informed that 
although the report had been submitted to the Licensing Committee, 
its implications applied equally to licences and permits within the remit 
of the Licensing and Protection Panel. 
 
Members were reminded that the Licensing Act contained fixed 
timescales for the determination of applications, the issue of counter 
notices etc and required forms and certificates to be dealt with in 
certain prescribed ways.  As a consequence, changes would be 
required, and the Department for Culture Media and Sport (DCMS) 
had launched a brief consultation exercise on the impact of the 
Directive prior to making the regulations required to alter the present 
arrangements. 
 
The new Directive would apply only to regulated entertainment within 
the context of the Licensing Act 2003 but for the purpose of 
consistency was also being extended by DCMS to the sale and 
supply of alcohol and late night refreshment. 

Agenda Item 1

1



 
The Committee was advised that DCMS had estimated savings for 
applicants to be in the region of £500,000 - £1,500,000 per annum.  
However amendments to various aspects of the legislative procedure 
including transferring the responsibility for the notification of 
responsible authorities to the licensing authority was likely to 
marginally increase costs and increase the burden on the licensing 
authority.  Whereupon it was 
 
RESOLVED 
 

(a) that the changes resulting from the implementation of the     
EU Services Directive be noted; and 

(b) that the answers to the consultation paper as set out in the 
annex to the report now submitted be approved. 

 
 

13. GAMBLING ACT 2005 - STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES   
 

 Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Democratic and 
Central Services (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) to 
which was attached a draft Statement of Principles under the 
provisions of the Gambling Act 2005, which had been revised and 
updated to take into account the latest regulations and guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission. 
 
Having regard to the timetable for public consultation and the 
likelihood that this was unlikely to generate significant comment, it 
was 
 
RESOLVED 
 

(a) that the Head of Democratic and Central Services be 
authorised, after consultation with the Chairman and Vice 
Chairman of the Committee to make any amendments to 
the statement that are considered necessary as a result of a 
comments received from the public consultation exercise; 
and 

(b) that the Cabinet and Council be invited to approve the 
statement of principles under the Gambling Act 2005 to 
come into effect on 31st January 2010 for a period of three 
years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2



14. APPOINTMENTS TO SUB-COMMITTEES   
 

 RESOLVED 
 
    that Councillors Priestman and Reeve be appointed to Group 3 of  
    the Licensing Sub Committees to replace Councillor 
    Sanderson and the late Councillor Powell as follows  
 
 
Group (3)  
Sub Committee 

I.  Dutton, Eaton, Priestman 
II.  Dutton, Eaton, Reeve 
III.  Eaton, Reeve, Priestman 
IV.  Dutton, Reeve, Priestman 

 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

3



4

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 
 
 
Licensing Committee     27th January 2010  
 
 

SECRET GARDEN PARTY, ABBOTS RIPTON 
(REPORT BY HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC AND CENTRAL SERVICES) 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Committee will be aware that, in recent years, a large open air event 

under the name of the Secret Garden Party has been held annually at Abbots 
Ripton.  The event requires a premises licence from the Council as the 
licensing authority under the Licensing Act 2003.  Arising from 
representations from interested parties, the application has necessitated a 
hearing each year by a Licensing Sub Committee which has usually extended 
to a full day’s duration.  As a result of those representations, the licences 
granted have been subject to various conditions, including a limitation for one 
year only. 

 
2.1 An application submitted in November 2009 for a licence in perpetuity for an 

annual event has not attracted any representations, either from responsible 
authorities or interested parties.  As a result, the licence has been granted 
with conditions consistent with the operating schedule that accompanied the 
application.  There will be no further need for the organisers to apply for a 
licence in future years and the only way in which the licence can now be 
varied is by application by the organisers or as a result of a review triggered 
by a representation from a responsible authority or interested party. 

 
2.3 Numbers for the event in 2010 have been increased again to the extent that, 

over the weekend in question, this will become the largest community in 
terms of population in Huntingdonshire. 

 
2.4 Given the scale of the event and the fact that a hearing will no longer be 

necessary (unless representations are received to an application for a 
variation or for a review), this report apprises the Committee of the steps that 
will be taken by the authority to minimise its impact. 

 
2.0 Previous Events 
 
2.1 The event has grown in scale in successive years from less than 1,000 

initially to last year’s event when the licence permitted a fee paying 
attendance of 12,500 and a maximum on site of 17,000. 

 
2.2 As the event has grown, the measures taken by the licensing authority in 

conjunction with responsible authorities and others have similarly become 
more extensive.  For major events of this nature, safety advisory group 
meetings, chaired by the Licensing Manager, are now held in advance of the 
event and de-briefing meetings after the event has concluded.  The 
authorities represented at the meetings with the event organisers now include 
representatives of the licensing section; environmental and community health, 
police, fire and county council trading standards as responsible authorities; 
and county council highways and emergency management, NHS ambulance 
service, Hinchingbrooke Hospital and NHS Cambridgeshire as relevant 
bodies.  Further more specialised meetings are held between representatives 
of the responsible authorities and companies contracted by the event 
organisers to deal with issues such as sound management, site security, 
health care etc. 

Agenda Item 3

5



 2 

 
2.3 In the lead up to the event, officers from the Licensing Section and the 

Environmental and Community Health Division make regular visits to the site 
to ensure that the arrangements being made comply with the licence 
conditions.  While the event is taking place, officers from those teams will be 
on site for a large proportion of the weekend until the early hours of the 
morning each day.  Officers from Cambridgeshire Constabulary will also be 
on site throughout the event. 

 
2.4 The event itself is well managed and creates relatively little impact on the 

locality given its scale.  Nevertheless as might be expected from an event of 
this size, issues do arise which are resolved wherever possible by the 
representatives of the licensing authority and responsible authorities on site 
and reviewed in the subsequent de-brief meeting.  Those dealt with at the de-
briefing for the 2009 event can be summarised as – 

  
Traffic Management – queues forming on the highway as vehicles 
arrived on site which caused traffic congestion locally (to be 
addressed in the traffic management plan for the 2010 event) 
 
Medical Provision – 49 visits to accident and emergency at 
Hinchingbrooke, of which 9 were admitted and 2 treated in the 
intensive care unit (to be addressed in separate discussions between 
the hospital and the event paramedics to improve medical cover at the 
event) 
 
Noise – two noise complaints received from members of the public 
(exacerbated by atmospheric conditions over the weekend) 
 
Security – two arrests on site for anti-social behaviour (security issues 
to be addressed by improved perimeter fencing, better on site 
communication links and alterations to the admission arrangements to 
ensure the effective use of the passive drugs dog) 
 
Food Hygiene and Health & Safety – improvements in hygiene 
facilities and lifeguarding welcomed (copies of electrical and structural 
certificates to be provided to environmental and community health 
staff in future, accident reporting measures to be improved and 
investigation into the possibility of a food safety consultant to address 
food hygiene standards) 
 
Police – 49 crimes recorded, 2 of which involved drugs but no disorder 
and no complaints from local residents (improved police presence at 
entrances when admissions being made at start of event and better 
security on site on last day as large numbers had yet to leave). 

 
3.0 Permanent Licence 
 
3.1 The licence granted will be based on the application submitted for the 2010 

event for a period of 5 days in each calendar year.  The site forms part of and 
adjoins the grounds of Abbots Ripton Hall with a maximum attendance on site 
at any one time of 26,000 people of whom no more than 17,000 will be the 
paying public and guests.  

 
3.2 Six months’ notice will be given to the licensing authority and responsible 

authorities prior to the date of the event each year.  The event in 2010 will be 
held from Thursday, 22nd to Monday, 26th July inclusive.  Licensable activities 
will take place at varying times throughout that period commencing at noon 
on 22nd and ending at 6.00 a.m. on 26th July.  Live music will cease at 1.00 
a.m. on 23rd, 6.00 a.m. on 24th and 25th, and midnight on the 25th. 

6



 3 

 
3.3 Conditions will be attached to the licence to regulate the hours of the various 

forms of entertainment, numbers, sound management, site security, police 
presence, sale of alcohol, drugs control, litter and waste disposal, sanitation, 
health and safety, water safety, risk management, traffic management, food 
hygiene and medical care. 

 
3.4 Officers from the Licensing Section and Environmental and Community 

Health Division will be on site again at the current year’s event for most of its 
duration and will be holding planning and de-briefing meetings with the event 
organisers and responsible and other relevant organisations. 

 
4.0 Conclusion 
 
4.1 The Secret Garden Party has become an event of national renown which 

makes a major contribution to the local economy and local community.  It is 
well managed with good co-operation between the event organisers and the 
licensing authority and other responsible authorities and relevant bodies.  
Nevertheless, the event does have an impact on resources within the 
Democratic & Central Services and Environmental & Community Health 
Divisions with staff working into the early hours of the morning for the duration 
of the event. 

 
5.0 Recommendation 
 

the Committee is invited to note the content of this report. 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Licences previously granted by the Council. 
Application submitted for premises licence in perpetuity. 
 
 
Contact Person 
 
Roy Reeves, Head of Democratic & Central Service 
Tel: (01480) 388003 
 

7



8

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 
 
 
Licensing and Protection Panel    27th January 2010  
Licensing Committee     27th January 2010  
 
 

LICENSING COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 
 

(Report by Head of Democratic and Central Services) 
 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 At the last meeting of the Licensing and Protection Panel, a report was 

submitted on the Council’s enforcement policies and the need for these to be 
reviewed in the light of the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008.  

 
1.2 The existing licensing enforcement policy has therefore been updated to have 

regard to the Act and the new Regulators Compliance Code. 
 
2 New Policy 
 
2.1 A new draft licensing compliance and enforcement policy statement is 

attached for the functions referred to in Annex A of the statement.  As this 
applies to licensing functions that are the responsibility of both the Licensing 
and Protection Panel and the Licensing Committee, the statement will need to 
be approved by both bodies. 

 
2.2 Good practice requires licence holders to be consulted on the new policy 

statement before it is adopted.  Rather than circulate this to all licence 
holders, the draft will be advertised on the Council’s website and copies sent 
to responsible authorities within the meaning of the licensing and gambling 
legislation and trade organisations and associations where such exist. 

 
3 Recommendations 
 
3.1 Members’ comments on the draft are invited, subject to which it is 
 

RECOMMENDED 
 

(a) that the Panel/Committee approve the attached draft licensing 
compliance and enforcement policy statement; 

 
(b) that the statement be made available for the purposes of consultation; 

and 
 
(c) that the Head of Democratic and Central Services be authorised to 

amend the draft in the light of any comments received and adopt the 
statement, after consultation with the Chairman and Vice Chairman. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4

9



 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Report on Enforcement Policies submitted to Licensing and Protection Panel meeting 
in October 2009  
Regulators Compliance Code  
The Enforcement Concordat – first issued in 1998 by the Cabinet Office 
 
Contact Person 
 
Roy Reeves, Head of Democratic & Central Services 
Tel: (01480) 388003 
 

10



Lic&Prot/2002/Reports/Licensing Enforcement Policy 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

LICENSING COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 
 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 The purpose of this policy is to express the commitment and intention of 

Huntingdonshire District Council to the principles of consistent and effective 
enforcement of legislation relating to various forms of licensing listed in 
Appendix A.  In carrying out its functions under the Licensing Act 2003 and 
the Gambling Act 2005, the Council is acting as the licensing authority but for 
the purposes of consistency the term ‘the Council’ is used throughout this 
policy statement. 

 
1.2 In approving this policy statement, the Council’s Licensing Committee and 

Licensing and Protection Panel have had regard to the Concordat on Good 
Enforcement - the Enforcement Concordat - issued in 1998 by the Cabinet 
Office and the statutory Regulators’ Compliance Code which came into force 
in 2008.  The Council has also had regard to advice and guidance issued by 
the Local Better Regulation Office, the Local Authorities Co-ordinators of 
Regulatory Services (LACORS) and the Institute of Licensing. 

 
1.3 The Council recognises that effective and well targeted regulation is essential 

to promote fairness and protection from harm, while being proportionate and 
flexible enough to encourage economic progress and vitality.  This policy is 
therefore designed to set out the arrangements by which the principles of 
proportionality, consistency, transparency, helpfulness, openness and 
targeting of resources will be incorporated into actions. 

 
1.4 The Council will adopt a positive and pro-active approach towards ensuring 

compliance by - 
 

• helping and encouraging those subject to regulation to understand and 
meet the regulatory requirements more easily; and 

• responding proportionately to breaches of regulation. 
 
 In certain instances, the Council may conclude that a provision in the 

Regulators’ Compliance Code is either not relevant or outweighed by another 
provision.  Where a decision is made to depart from the Code, it will be 
properly reasoned, based on material evidence and documented. 

 
1.5 The Officers who carry out the enforcement of licensing legislation listed in 

Appendix A are Council employees who are authorised in writing by the 
Council to enforce tasks and duties in accordance with the Council’s Scheme 
of Delegation.   Officers will carry appropriate means of identification and 
authorisation cards. 

 
2. STATEMENT OF INTENT 
 
2.1 It is the Council’s policy to work with businesses and their employees to - 
 

♦ ensure that the risks to the public and those employed in licensed 
activities are properly controlled and managed so that they are reduced to 
the lowest level that is reasonably practicable; 

11



 2 

♦ comply with all legislative requirements, while having regard to statutory 
codes of practice and statutory guidance. 

 
2.2 In order to achieve this objective, enforcement action will be proportionate to 

the risk(s) perceived or the seriousness of the contravention of legislation and 
will be undertaken in accordance with this policy. 

 
2.3 When considering the appropriate course of action to be taken following an 

inspection or investigation, this policy will be read in conjunction with relevant 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State, the Gambling Commission and 
other relevant bodies. 

 
2.4 Officers will comply with this policy when undertaking enforcement action.  

They will offer an educative and advisory approach in the first instance to 
those responsible for complying with relevant licensing legislation but 
thereafter will enforce the law and compliance with licence conditions by the 
use of a range of enforcement options including – verbal and written 
warnings, use of statutory notices, formal cautions and prosecution.  
Prosecution will not normally constitute a punitive response to minor 
contraventions of licensing legislation. 

 
2.5 This policy has regard to the Enforcement Concordat and the Regulators’ 

Compliance Code.  Except where there is considered to be a significant risk 
to public safety, departures from the guidelines contained in this policy will be 
exceptional and only following agreement with the Head of Democratic and 
Central Services or Central Services Manager of the Council. 

 
2.6 All authorised Officers shall have regard to this policy when carrying out their 

duties in relation to the legislation listed in Appendix A. 
 
2.7 Where there are issues of dual or joint enforcement with other external 

enforcement agencies such as Cambridgeshire Constabulary, 
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service and Cambridgeshire County 
Council Trading Standards or internally with Environmental and Community 
Health Services, consultation will take place with the relevant body(ies) before 
any enforcement action is initiated. 

 
3. GENERAL PRINCIPLES 
 
3.1 Licensing legislation is often prescriptive and subject to frequent change 

which limits the discretion of the Council and the licence holder. 
 
3.2 The Council will endeavour to ensure compliance in full with all relevant 

licensing legislation listed in Appendix A.  Officers will seek to offer relevant 
information and advice to licence holders in person as well as in writing.  
Officers will deal with anyone subject to this enforcement process in a 
courteous, fair and objective manner in accordance with the Council’s 
corporate equalities policy. 

 
3.2 Officers will assist businesses and individuals to understand legal 

requirements and the obligations imposed by relevant legislation.  They will 
seek to encourage good practice and will be sensitive to the needs of 
business, particularly in regard to any requirements for prompt responses, 
transparency of action and the imposition of minimum burdens consistent with 
regulatory requirements. 

 

12



 3 

3.3 Officers will also use formal enforcement measures as specified in the 
relevant legal provisions including the issue of statutory notices, formal 
cautions and by initiating prosecutions.   Where there has been a serious 
breach of legislation or the safety of the public or employees is considered to 
be at risk, there will be quick and effective action as distinct from a graduated 
response.  In considering whether this is necessary, Officers will take account 
of relevant guidance and will use their professional judgement to determine 
the extent to which public safety is considered to be endangered. 

 
3.4 Where appropriate, the Council will carry out both overt and covert 

surveillance of individuals or organisations.  In doing so, Officers will comply 
with any human rights legislation and have regard to any associated guidance 
and codes of practice in existence at the time, together with any internal 
policies and procedures.  The Council has a covert surveillance policy under 
the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 that includes a detailed 
procedure for authorisation and record keeping when covert surveillance is 
considered appropriate. 

 
3.4 The Council will ensure that its Officers are suitably experienced and 

competent to undertake the enforcement duties that they have been 
authorised to carry out. 

 
3.5 Within available resources, the Council will endeavour to provide suitable 

training and education to local businesses on a range of licensing matters 
designed to encourage businesses to comply with the law.  This will be 
particularly relevant when new legislation is introduced and where an 
educative approach is appropriate.  Documentation including guidance and 
standard conditions issued by the Council will be accurate and reflect current 
practice.  In providing education and documentation, every effort will be made 
to provide it in languages other than English where there is shown to be a 
demand and resources permit.      

 
4. PRINCIPLES OF ENFORCEMENT 
 
4.1 The enforcement of the licensing legislation will be guided by the principles 

that are contained within the Regulators’ Compliance Code and where 
appropriate the Enforcement Concordat.  These constitute a framework for 
local authorities to operate in accordance with better regulation principles as 
follows:- 

 
 Standards 
 
4.2 The Council is accountable to the local electorate for its actions and 

omissions.  It will have clear policies and standards against which it can be 
judged. 

 
 Openness 
 
4.3 The Council will provide information and advice in plain language on the law 

that it enforces and will disseminate this as widely as possible.  It will also be 
open about how it sets about its work, including any charges that are made 
for specific activities.  Officers will be prepared to discuss general issues, 
specific compliance failures or problems with businesses, their employees 
and representatives.  Where necessary, the public registers will contain 
details of any notices that are served or action taken. 

 
 Helpfulness 

13



 4 

 
4.4 The Council will work with businesses, especially small and medium sized 

operators and companies, to advise and assist on compliance with the 
legislation and licence conditions.  It will provide a courteous and efficient 
service and Officers will encourage licence holders, businesses and the 
public to contact them to seek advice and information.  The Council will 
ensure that, wherever practicable, its enforcement activities are effectively co-
ordinated to minimise any unnecessary overlap or delay and where 
appropriate will work with other regulators to ensure an efficient service in 
accordance with guidance issued by The Local Better Regulation Office and 
the Department for Business and Skills.   

 
4.5 The Council will be prepared to discuss with businesses any letters, guidance 

or other communication that Officers have dispatched.  Requests made under 
the Freedom of Information and Data Protection legislation will be dealt with 
in accordance with the legislation and the Council’s procedures. 

 
 Complaints about Service 
 
4.6 The Council has adopted a feedback procedure which will be made 

accessible to licence holders, businesses, employees and the public.  
Complaints made to the Council will be dealt with initially under that 
procedure.  Where a person remains dissatisfied with the outcome of a 
complaint, the Council will make available the procedure for a complaint to be 
made to the Local Government Ombudsman that the Council has acted with 
maladministration.  This is without prejudice to any statutory rights of appeal 
that are available to a business or licence holder which will be explained in 
writing by the Council. 

 
 Proportionality 
 
4.7 Enforcement action will be proportionate to the risk and cost involved.  Action 

taken by the Council to ensure that activities are licensed and that licence 
conditions are complied with will be proportionate to the risk to public safety 
and to the seriousness of any breach of the legislation or relevant licensing 
conditions. 

 
4.8 Some licensing requirements are prescribed by law with no room for 

discretion or individual interpretation.  However others require action in line 
with the principles of reasonableness and the regulatory system will apply the 
concept of proportionality through such principles.  Deciding what is 
reasonable or appropriate to control risks involves the exercise of judgement 
by businesses and, where permitted by the legislation, by regulators based on 
sound professional judgement.  Where a licence holder and the Council 
cannot reach agreement, the final determination of what is reasonable in 
particular circumstances may ultimately be made by the courts. 

 
4.9 Risk assessment will be based on all available relevant and quality data, 

including explicit consideration of the combined effect of the potential impact 
of non-compliance on regulatory outcomes and the likelihood of non-
compliance.  In evaluating the likelihood of non-compliance, the Council will 
consider all relevant factors, including past compliance records and potential 
future risks, the existence of good systems for managing risks, evidence of 
recognised external accreditation and a business’s management competence 
and willingness to comply. 

 
 Consistency 

14



 5 

 
4.10 Consistency of approach means taking a similar approach in similar 

circumstances to achieve similar ends.  Licence holders will expect a 
consistent approach from the Council and its Officers in the advice provided, 
the use of powers, the determination of applications for licences, decisions on 
whether to prosecute and responses to incidents.  In practice, Officers will be 
faced with many variables such as the severity of the risk to public safety, the 
attitude and competence of the licence holder and any previous history of 
non-compliance.  Decisions on enforcement will be a matter of sound 
professional judgement based upon a risk assessment which will be 
exercised by the Council and its Officers. 

 
 Transparency 
 
4.11 Assistance and advice will be offered to licensees to enable them to 

understand what is required of them by the legislation and licence conditions.  
It also will make clear what can be expected from the Council and the 
reasons why the Council and its Officers intend to or have taken a particular 
course of action. 

 
4.12 The Council will assess the effectiveness of its information and support 

services by monitoring businesses’ awareness and understanding of the legal 
requirements, including the extent to which they may have to incur external 
advice and costs to understand and comply with legal requirements.    
However there may remain a need for businesses and licence holders with 
particularly complex practices to use specialist or professional advisers as 
appropriate. 

 
4.13 The Council will encourage businesses and licence holders to reasonably 

seek and access advice without directly triggering enforcement action.  In 
responding to such an approach, the Council will seek primarily to provide the 
advice and guidance necessary to help ensure compliance.  

 
 Targeting 
 
4.14 Targeting means making sure that resources are targeted primarily on those 

whose activities give rise to the most serious risk to licence holders, 
employees and the public or where hazards are least well controlled.  Action 
will be focused on the licence holders and businesses who are responsible for 
the risk and who are best placed to control it. 

 
4.10 The Council will prioritise inspections and visits in accordance with the risk to 

the public and complaints about business activities.  Certain licensed or 
approved operations will receive more regular visits and inspections so that 
the Council can be satisfied that potentially high risk operations have effective 
public safety management arrangements in place. 

 
4.11 Where formal enforcement action is necessary, it will, where appropriate, be 

directed against the licence holder or business responsible.  Where 
responsibility is shared by several individuals, the Council will take action 
against those who can be shown to be in breach of the legislation or licence 
conditions. 

 

15



 6 

5. SPECIFIC ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITIES 
 
 Routine Inspections 
 
5.1 Under normal circumstances appointments will be made with a licensee 

where an inspection and visit to licensed premises is to be undertaken by an 
Officer.  However, inspections and visits to licensed premises will also be 
made without prior warning where this is considered to be necessary. 

 
5.2 Officers will identify themselves at the premises at the time of entry unless for 

operational reasons the purpose of the visit is for surveillance purposes.  
Officers will show their identification and their authority to enter licensed 
premises at the time of entry.  It is an offence for any person to intentionally 
obstruct an authorised officer in the execution of his or her duties or refuse 
entry to certain licensed premises. 

 
5.3 The main purpose of an inspection or visit is to ensure that licence conditions 

are being complied with.  The Officer will state the purpose of the inspection 
at the start of the visit to the person in charge at that time.  Inspections and 
visits will normally involve discussion with the licence holder or his 
representative.  It can also include discussions with other employees at 
working at the premises at that time.  Officers will offer to supply any copies of 
licence conditions or guidance notes at the time of inspection or will supply 
them later if requested.  The conditions, notes or letters can be translated into 
other languages if requested and interpreters can be used if appropriate.   

 
5.4 Generally, enforcement will be undertaken in a graduated approach.  In the 

first instance, a discussion of requirements will take place with the licence 
holder or his representative.  When considering formal enforcement, account 
will be taken as to whether there is also evidence of significant breaches of 
other licensing legislation.  In the absence of other significant breaches, the 
Officer may consider a formal approach where 

 
♦ there is a high risk to public safety; or 
♦ breaches would be likely to lead a more serious breach of licence 

conditions which would give rise to an unacceptable risk to public safety; 
or 

♦ the licensee has already failed to respond to an informal approach, or 
♦ there has been an act of obstruction or non-co-operation, or 
♦ there have been cumulative breaches of legislation. 

 
5.5 Offences or breaches of a minor nature may be dealt with by way of advice, 

verbal warning letter or re-visit or any combination of these. 
 
 Investigations 
 
5.6 The Council will respond to and, where appropriate, investigate all complaints 

about activities being undertaken without a licence or about a breach of 
licence conditions within 3 working days.  The response may vary according 
to the nature of the allegation, its severity, the number of persons at risk and 
the nature of that risk and the severity of the legislative breach.  The licence 
holder will normally be informed that a complaint has been received and the 
nature of that complaint.  In some instances, by agreement with the 
complainant, it may be appropriate to release the complainant’s details.  
However, where it is necessary to protect the identity of the complainant, e.g. 
where there may be a risk of intimidation or the person is an employee of the 

16



 7 

licence holder, then the personal details of the complainant will remain 
confidential, unless otherwise required to be released.  

 
5.7 Where a complaint is received, the licence holder will be notified as soon as 

reasonably practicable unless it is not appropriate to do so, e.g. it may hinder 
a more serious ongoing issue which is subject to a separate investigation.  
The investigating Officer will, where appropriate, keep the licence holder or 
his representative informed of the progress of the investigation.  At the end of 
the investigation, the licence holder and interested parties will be informed of 
the outcome and whether any further action will be taken by the Council. 

 
6. ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS 
 
6.1 There are a number of enforcement options available to the Council where a 

contravention of licensing legislation or breach of licence condition has been 
identified.  These include – 

 
♦ take no action; or 
♦ take informal action; or 
♦ issue a formal caution; or 
♦ suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a licence; or 
♦ prosecute (which can be taken in addition to the service of a notice of 

suspension or revocation). 
 
6.2 Where appropriate, a graduated approach to enforcement will be adopted and 

in the first instance businesses and licence holders will be given the 
opportunity to discuss and remedy any problems before action is taken, 
unless immediate action is required.  In each situation the Officer will need to 
assess the degree of risk, the seriousness of the offence and the means of 
remedying the situation, together with the previous history of compliance.  
The decision as to which type of enforcement is appropriate will always be 
governed by the particular circumstances of the case. 

 
6.3 In particular, the Council’s sanctions and penalties will - 
 

• aim to change the behaviour of the offender; 
• aim to eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance; 
• be responsive and consider what is appropriate for the particular offender 

and licensing issue; 
• be proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused; 
• aim to restore the harm caused by licensing non-compliance, where 

appropriate; and 
• aim to deter future non-compliance. 

 
 No Action 
 
6.4 Where an inspection or investigation reveals that at the time of the visit full 

compliance with the legislation and licence conditions has been achieved, no 
further action may be required other than record the outcome of the 
inspection.   

 
 Informal Action 
 
6.5 Informal action may consist of any or all of the following -  
 

♦ advice and offering general assistance and guidance; 
♦ a verbal warning; and 

17



 8 

♦ a letter requesting action. 
 
6.6 Officers will use informal action if they believe that such a procedure will 

secure compliance with the requirements of the relevant Act and ancillary 
legislation within a timescale that is reasonable in the circumstances.  If an 
Officer decides to use informal methods such as written advice, this should 
not result in a lower standard of compliance with the Act and ancillary 
legislation than would be achieved by more formal action. 

 
6.7 While the action taken by the Officer will depend on the circumstances of the 

particular case, for guidance purposes only, the Council considers the 
following circumstances to be appropriate for informal action to be taken – 

 
♦ the offence is not serious enough to warrant formal action, e.g. a minor 

technical offence which creates little or no risk to public safety; 
♦ from past history, it can reasonably be expected that informal action will 

achieve compliance; 
♦ confidence that the business management involved is high. 

 
6.8 Where informal action has already been adopted in relation to the same 

business or licence holder but without success, Officers will consider using a 
more formal approach.   

 
 Formal Caution 
 
6.9 The Council may consider issuing a formal caution in appropriate cases as an 

alternative to a prosecution.  The person receiving a caution will be made 
aware of the implications and the fact that a further breach of licensing 
legislation or licence conditions is likely to lead to the suspension or 
revocation of a licence and/or prosecution.  The purpose of a caution is to – 

 
♦ deal quickly and simply with less serious offences; 
♦ divert less serious offences away from the courts; 
♦ reduce the chance of repeat offences. 

 
6.10 Where a formal caution is under consideration, the following conditions must 

be fulfilled before it is given – 
 

♦ there must be evidence of the suspected offender’s guilt sufficient to give 
a realistic prospect of conviction if a prosecution were to be taken as an 
alternative; and 

♦ the suspected offender must admit the offence; and 
♦ the suspected offender must understand the significance of a formal 

caution and give an informed consent to being cautioned. 
 
6.11 The formal caution will only be administered by the Head of Democratic and 

Central Services or Central Services Manager.  Where a person declines the 
offer of a formal caution, it will be necessary to consider taking alternative 
enforcement action.  This could include suspension or revocation of or refusal 
to renew a licence or prosecution.  The criteria for prosecution will be 
reconsidered in the light of the person’s unwillingness to accept a formal 
caution. 

 
 Prosecution 
 
6.12 Prosecution is one of a number of enforcement options available to the 

Council.  Each case needs to be considered on its own merits and any policy 

18



 9 

therefore cannot be prescriptive.  The prosecution policy is attached as 
Appendix B and is consistent with the Enforcement Concordat agreed by 
central and local government and which the Council has adopted. 

 
6.13 Through its Constitution, the Council has delegated responsibility for licensing 

matters to the Licensing and Protection Panel.  The Licensing Committee is a 
statutory committee established by legislation.  Both the Panel and the 
Committee have delegated authority to institute proceedings for contravention 
of legislation to the Director of Central Services or the Head of Democratic 
and Central Services, after consultation with the Chairman or Vice Chairman 
of the Panel or Committee, as appropriate.  The Council’s Head of Law, 
Property and Governance will be consulted as part of the decision making 
process and dependent on the case in question other appropriate persons 
and bodies may be consulted including the Council’s Head of Environmental 
and Community Health Services, Cambridgeshire Constabulary, 
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service and external professionals/experts 
in connection with licensing issues. 

 
6.14 Officers will gather appropriate evidence and prepare the case for prosecution 

on behalf of the Council.  Where, having considered all the evidence, it is felt 
by Officers that a prosecution may be warranted, the authorisation of the 
Director of Central Services or the Head of Democratic and Central Services 
will be sought.  Following agreement to proceed, the Head of Law, Property 
and Governance will instigate the prosecution in consultation with the Case 
Officer.  Regard will be had during the investigation to the requirements of the 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE), the Criminal Procedure and 
Investigation Act 1996 (CPIA) and the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA). 

 

19



 10

APPENDIX A 
 
 

LICENSING ACTIVITIES 
 
 
GAMBLING 
 
Gambling Act 2005 
 
Casinos 
Bingo premises 
Betting offices 
Track betting 
Adult gaming and family entertainment centres 
Gaming and machine permits 
Prize gaming 
Small society lotteries 
 
ENTERTAINMENT 
 
Licensing Act 2003 
 
Sale and supply of alcohol 
Regulated entertainment comprising plays, films, indoor sporting events, boxing and 
wrestling, live and recorded music, and dance. 
Late night refreshment 
Temporary events notices 
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
 
Sex establishments comprising sex cinemas, sex encounter establishments and sex 
shops 
 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 
 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 
Hackney carriage vehicles and drivers 
Private hire operators, vehicles and drivers 
 
TRADING AND COLLECTIONS 
 
Police, Factories, etc (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 
 
Street collections 
 
House to House Collections Act 1939 
 
House to house collections 
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
 
Acupuncture, tattooing, ear piercing and electrolysis 
Street trading 
 

20



 11

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 
Pavement cafes  
 
 
 
 

21



 12

APPENDIX B 
 
 
 

PROSECUTION POLICY 
 
 
1. In order to ensure public safety, the Council will use a variety of means to 

ensure that the law relating to various licences listed in Appendix A and for 
which the Council is the licensing authority is complied with within the District.  
This will include education, advice, guidance, formal cautions, statutory 
notices and prosecution. 

 
2. The Council will use discretion in deciding whether to initiate proceedings 

leading to a prosecution.  In general, Officers will attempt to ensure 
compliance with the licensing legislation and licence conditions by informal 
means except where they have grounds to consider that it is necessary to 
serve a formal notice or recommend prosecution.  The Council recognises 
that the decision to prosecute is significant and could have far reaching 
consequences on the offender.  Before deciding whether to initiate 
proceedings leading to a prosecution, they will take account of the criteria set 
out in paragraph 3 below. 

 
3. The decision to prosecute has been delegated by the Council’s Licensing and 

Protection Panel and Licensing Committee to the Director of Central Services 
or the Head of Democratic and Central Services, after consultation with the 
Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Panel or Committee.  Public safety will be 
of paramount consideration and the following matters will be taken into 
account in addition to any other matter which may be considered relevant in 
any particular case –  

 
 3.1 Whether the evidence available is sufficiently reliable, admissible and 

substantial to provide a realistic prospect of conviction, having regard 
to the evidential and public interest tests set down in the Code for 
Crown Prosecutors and any other prosecution code or government 
guidance for the time being relevant to the case under consideration. 

 
 3.2 The general record and attitude of the offender. 
 
 3.3 The attitude and reliability of any witnesses. 
 
 3.4 The gravity of the offence (including where the alleged offence 

involves a breach of the licensing legislation or licence conditions such 
that public safety or well-being is placed at risk). 

 
 3.5 The failure by offenders to comply with previous written directions 

given by Officers provided that offenders have been given reasonable 
opportunity to comply with those directions. 

 
 3.6 Whether it is desirable to deter others from similar failures to comply 

with licensing legislation or licence conditions. 
 
 3.7 Whether it is more appropriate after consideration of all of the 

circumstances and on being satisfied of a person’s guilt and the 
offender accepting that guilt, to offer a formal caution in accordance 
with guidance laid down in Home Office Circular 30/2005. 

 

22



 13

4. This prosecution policy also relates to the prosecution of individuals and 
individual managers or directors whether the Council considers that a 
conviction is warranted and it can be shown that the offence was committed 
with their consent or connivance or to have been attributable to neglect on 
their part. 

 
5. Having decided to prosecute, the policy of the Council is to prosecute without 

any unnecessary delay.  Once the prosecution has been determined by a 
court of law, the Council will contact the witnesses involved to inform them of 
the outcome. 

 
6. The Council take seriously its obligations arising from the Human Rights Act 

1998 and associated legislation.  It will endeavour at all times to act 
compatibly with this legislation. 

 
7. This policy is consistent with the Enforcement Concordat agreed by central 

and local government and the Regulators’ Compliance Code. 
 
 

23



24

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Secret Garden Party
	4 Licensing Compliance and Enforcement Policy
	Licensing Enforcement Policy - Revision December 2009


